
 

 

 
 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  
SUB-AUDIT COMMITTEE 

MEETING   
 

THURSDAY JUNE 15, 2023 
 



 
Town of Reading 
Meeting Posting with Agenda 

 

This Agenda has been prepared in advance and represents a listing of topics that the chair reasonably anticipates will be discussed 
at the meeting. However the agenda does not necessarily include all matters which may be taken up at this meeting. 

 

Page | 1 

2018-07-16 LAG 

Board - Committee - Commission - Council: 
 

      RMLD Audit Committee             
 

Date:  2023-06-15 Time:  5:30  PM      
 

Building:  Reading Municipal Light Building Location:  Winfred Spurr Audio Visual Room 
 

Address:  230 Ash Street Agenda:                       
 

Purpose:  Review CY22 Audit Findings   
 

Meeting Called By: Robert Coulter, Chair  
 

Notices and agendas are to be posted 48 hours in advance of the meetings excluding 
Saturdays, Sundays and Legal Holidays. Please keep in mind the Town Clerk’s hours of 
operation and make necessary arrangements to be sure your posting is made in an adequate 
amount of time. A listing of topics that the chair reasonably anticipates will be discussed at 
the meeting must be on the agenda. 
 

All Meeting Postings must be submitted in typed format; handwritten notices will not be accepted. 
 
Topics of Discussion: 
 
 

ON MARCH 29, 2023, GOVERNOR HEALEY SIGNED INTO LAW A SUPPLEMENTAL BUDGET 
BILL WHICH, AMONG OTHER THINGS, EXTENDS THE TEMPORARY PROVISIONS 

PERTAINING TO THE OPEN MEETING LAW TO MARCH 31, 2025.  
 

THIS MEETING WILL HELD IN PERSON, REMOTELY, AND STREAMED LIVE ON RCTV 
AND YOUTUBE: https://www.youtube.com/c/RCTVStudios/videos?view=57. 

 
FOR REMOTE AND/OR PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: Please email emorse@RMLD.com. 

Please include your full name, address, and phone number. Comments and questions will be 
monitored during the meeting. 

1. Call Meeting to Order  
 

2. Review Calendar Year 2022 Audit Findings with Marcum, LLP, and the Town of Reading 
Audit Committee. ACTION ITEM (attachment 1) –Zackary Fentross, Director, MARCUM, 
LLP. 
 
Suggested Motion: Move that the Town of Reading Audit Committee recommend to 
the RMLD Board of Commissioners to accept the audit dated June 8, 2023. 
 
Suggested Motion: Move that the RMLD Board of Commissioners Sub-Audit Committee 
recommend to the RMLD Board of Commissioners to accept the audit dated June 8, 
2023. 
 

3. Approval of Meeting Minutes ACTION ITEM (Attachment 2) 
Suggested Motion: Move that the RMLD Board of Commissioners Sub-Audit Committee 
approve the open session meeting minutes of the November 9, 2017; November 29, 
2018; May 23, 2019; July 16, 2020; May 19, 2021; and May 23, 2022, meetings.  
 

4. Move to Adjourn– Action Item  
 

https://www.youtube.com/c/RCTVStudios/videos?view=57
mailto:emorse@RMLD.com


 

 

 

 

 

  

ATTACHMENT 1 

READING MUNICIPAL LIGHT DEPARTMENT  

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 

DRAFT DATED 2023-06-08  
 









































2. Cash and Investments

DRAFT 6.8.2023 

Total cash and investments as of December 31, 2022 are classified in the accompanying

financial statements as follows:

Proprietary Fund: 

Unrestricted cash and short-term investments 

Restricted cash and short-term investments 

Restricted investments 

Fiduciary Fund: 

Pooled investments 

Total cash and investments 

Interest Rate Risk 

$ 23,411,566 

29,109,300 

793,916 

4,502,991 

$ 57,817,773 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair 

value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the 

sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market interest rates. The Department manages 

its exposure to interest rate risk by purchasing a combination of shorter term and longer

term investments and by timing cash flows from maturities so that a portion of the 

portfolio is maturing or coming close-to maturity evenly over time as necessary to provide 

the cash flow and liquidity needed for operations. 

As of December 31, 2022, the Department (including the OPEB Trust) held cash and short

term investments in pooled investments with the Massachusetts Municipal Depository 

Trust (MMDT), FDIC-insured savings accounts, and 90-day FDIC-insured bank certificates 

of deposit. Because of their immediate liquidity and/or short-term maturity, these funds 

are classified as cash and short-term investments in the accompanying financial statements 

and are not considered to be exposed to significant interest rate risk. 

As of December 31, 2022, the Department held investments in domestic and foreign fixed 

income bonds with varying maturity dates as follows: 

Corporate Bonds 

General Electric Cap Corp $ 

Wells Fargo & Co 

Simon Property 

BNP Paribas 

Amount 

206,936 

198,802 

181,716 

206,462 

Total 793,916 $====== 

18 

Maturity 

Date 

01/09/23 

08/15/23 

06/15/27 

03/03/23 



























DRAFT 6.8.2023 

The amount reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pension resulting from 

contributions subsequent to the measurement date and before the end of the fiscal year 

will be included as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended December 31, 

2023. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 

resources related to pension will be recognized as increases (decreases) in pension 

expense as follows: 

Year ended December 31: 

2023 $ {614,787) 

2024 (1,572,398) 

2025 (1,079,283) 

2026 (1,067,375) 

2027 (4,753) 

Total $ (4,338,596) 

Actuarial Assumptions 

The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2021 

using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the 

measurement: 

Valuation Date 

Actuarial Cost Method 

Actuarial Assumptions: 

Investment rate of return 

Projected salary increases 

Inflation rate 

Post-retirement cost-of-living 

adjustment 

January 1, 2021 

Entry Age Normal Cost Method 

7.00%, net of pension plan investment 

expense, including inflation 

4.25%-6.00% for Groups 1 and 2 

2.40% Annually 

3.00% of first $14,000 

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Blue Collar Mortality Table, with full 

generational mortality improvement using Scale MP-2018. For disabled members, RP-

2014 Blue Collar Mortality Table, set forward one year with full generational mortality 

improvement using MP-2018. 

Target Allocations 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using 

a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of 

return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are 

developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long

term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the 

target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of 

31 

































 

 

ATTACHMENT 2 

APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES 

November 9, 2017 

November 29, 2018 

May 23, 2019 

July 16, 2020 

May 19, 2021 

May 23, 2022 

  
 



 
Town of Reading 
Meeting Minutes 

 

Page | 1 

2016-09-22 LAG 

Board - Committee - Commission - Council: 
 

      RMLD Audit Committee             
 

Date:  2017-11-09 Time:  6:30 PM      
 

Building:  Reading Municipal Light Building Location:  
General Managers Conference Room 

 

Address:  230 Ash Street Session:                       
 

Purpose:  Review 2017 Audit Findings  Version:  Draft 
 

Attendees: Members - Present: 
 

Philip B. Pacino, Chair, Audit Committee Chair; Dave Hennessy, Vice Chair, 
Secretary Pro Tem; Tom O’Rourke, Commissioner, Audit Committee 
Member; John Stempeck, Commissioner;  
 

Members - Not Present: 
 

Dave Talbot, Commissioner  
 

Others Present: 
 

RMLD Staff: Coleen O’Brien, General Manager; Hamid Jaffari, Director of 
Engineering and Operations; William Seldon, Assistant Director of Integrated 
Resources; Wendy Markiewicz, Director of Business/Finance.  
 
Town Audit Committee Members: Peter Lydecker, Finance Committee; 
Stephen Herrick, Selectmen; Jeanne Borawski, School Committee; Philip B. 
Pacino, RMLD 
 
Guests: Frank Biron, Melanson Heath & PC, Zackary Fentross, Melanson 
Heath & PC    
 

Minutes Respectfully Submitted By:  Philip B. Pacino, Audit Committee Chair 
 
 

Topics of Discussion: 
 
 

Call Meeting to Order 
Chair Pacino called the meeting to order. 
 
Ms. Markiewicz introduced Zack Fentross, the Audit Manager in charge of the audit this year 
and Frank Biron, partner in charge of the audit. Everyone at the table introduced 
themselves. 
 
June 30, 2017 Audit Findings with Melanson, Heath & Company, PC and the Town 
of Reading's Audit Committee (Attachment) 
Mr. Biron explained that this year’s financials were delayed because the actuaries now need 
to wait until after the Town’s books are closed to complete their work. This is due to 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 74, which applies to the 
accounting of other post-employment benefits (OPEB).  
 
Mr. Biron stated that the independent auditor's report issued the RMLD a clean opinion. This 
is the best opinion that you can receive in an independent audit.  
 



 

Page | 2 

Mr. Biron explained that the statement of net position, referred to as a balance sheet in the 
commercial world, has some changes from last year due to a new accounting standard. RMLD 
has its own pension trust fund; it’s about $5.5 million that is set aside in a restricted cash 
account.  In the past, as participants in the Town’s contributory retirement system, RMLD 
would get a proportionate share of the overall liability of the Town’s pension system. But then 
that $5.5 million would be subtracted from RMLD’s liability to arrive at a lesser amount. GASB 
addressed the question, how do you handle situations when there is a separate pension 
reserve? Their response was that you do not use that to reduce liability, nor do you report it 
in a separate fiduciary fund. The net pension now includes the $5.5 million.  
 
Mr. Stempeck asked if this was done for transparency reasons? 
 
Mr. Biron explained it had more to do with how funds are transferred and paid out. Mr. Biron 
then stated that next year GASB 75 will require the liability from other post-employment 
benefits (OPEB) be reported on RMLD’s financial statements. Mr. Biron explained the overall 
OPEB liability for the Department is $10 million, but the Department has $3 million set aside 
in a trust fund. In this situation, you get to subtract that trust fund, so the liability will show 
next year as $7 million.  
 
June 30, 2017 Audit Findings with Melanson, Heath & Company, PC and the Town 
of Reading's Audit Committee (Attachment) 
Chair Pacino stated we’ve known about this for a long time.  
 
Mr. Stempeck asked if that will change the discount interest rate? 
 
Mr. Biron answered that since RMLD has $3 million of the $10 million funded, the likelihood 
is that the discount rate that the actuaries use is based on the investment rate of return. 
When the actuaries did the evaluation for OPEB, they used a discount rate of 7.5 percent. 
That’s something RMLD is going to want to address: RMLD doesn’t want money sitting, 
earning less than one percent, while actuaries assume it’s going to be earning seven and a 
half percent.  
 
Ms. Borawski asked how the $3 million set aside to address the liability stacks up to similar 
municipal utilities. Mr. Fentross answered that, as of June 30th, 28.5 percent was funded. 
Compared to other towns, RMLD is in a significantly better position and is on par with other 
municipal light departments. 
 
Vice Chair Hennessy asked if it should be 100 percent funded. Mr. Biron replied that 100 
percent would be the goal, but this is such a new issue that most municipalities, cities, and 
towns don’t have money. Because of the new accounting standards this is out in the open 
now and raising discussions.  
 
Mr. Stempeck stated that every corporation is having the same issue. Vice Chair Hennessy 
clarified that no one is 100 percent funded? Mr. Stempeck said that it’s rare, and it fluctuates 
with the interest rate. Mr. Biron added that its similar to pension liability; it is actuarily 
determined based on a discount rate and based on what the actual returns are.  
 
Mr. Stempeck asked how RMLD can get its investment dollars higher? Mr. Biron answered 
that RMLD could pool funds at the statewide level and Mr. Fentross added that some of the 
municipal light departments in the Commonwealth use MMWEC to invest.  
 
Mr. Biron stated that the Department is in a very strong financial position and in a better 
position than it was a year ago. The cash balance is $15.5 million, which is two months’ worth 
of cash requirements. Receivables are $8.7 million. Seventy percent of that is an accrual of 
unbilled services provided through June 30th. The rest is for billed and almost all of that is 
current. The Department does a very good job of managing receivables. Restricted cash totals 
$26.4 million and restricted investments total $2.6 million. Capital assets were $70.9 million 
last year and $74.8 million this year.  This represents capital asset additions of about $8 
million and a $4 million depreciation expense. The Department consistently invests in its 



 

Page | 3 

capital needs without bonding and uses its own reserves to fund capital additions; the 
Department has no debt.  
 
The Town’s contributory retirement system is about 73 percent funded. This is better than 
most retirement systems in Massachusetts, which are in the 55-60 percent funded range.  
 
Vice Chair Hennessy asked why is it not a problem it isn't 100 percent? Mr. Biron answered 
because all contributory retirement systems in Massachusetts are on a funding schedule. It 
was on pay as you go, but then changed to an actuary schedule, but towns were given time 
to get there.  Ms. Markiewicz stated she believes until 2028. 
 
Mr. Biron then moved on to the statement of revenues and change in position, otherwise 
known as the income statement. It is comparable to the prior year. Operating expenses 
were $14.3 million, which was an increase over the prior year of $12.9 million, because of 
the $1.2 million pension adjustment. The change in net position was $4.4 million. For a 
business, that would be the net income for the year. 
 
Mr. Biron explained that the Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities (DPU) places 
limitations on the amount of net income. Maximum return on capital is 8 percent of fixed 
assets. Ms. Markiewicz stated that she had done the necessary calculations and 7.3 percent.   
 
June 30, 2017 Audit Findings with Melanson, Heath & Company, PC and the Town 
of Reading's Audit Committee (Attachment) 
 
Mr. Biron asked Mr. Fentross to comment on the condition of the accounting records-Mr. 
Fentross stated that RMLD was well-prepared for audit. Seventy percent of clients get 
management letters and RMLD did not receive any. That’s a great indication that things are 
taken seriously and that controls are in place.   
 
Ms. Markiewicz thanked Mr. Fentross for his diligence on obtaining the OPEB report. 
 
Mr. Herrick asked the auditors if they recommend getting more aggressive? Mr. Biron replied 
yes, if the actuaries are using 7.5 percent, you should try to achieve 7.5 percent.  
 
Ms. Borawski stated that two months’ worth of cash feels low. Mr. Biron explained that it’s 
consistently there and doesn’t fluctuate. The Department also has a lot of reserve cash if 
needed.  
 
Chair Pacino made a motion, seconded by Mr. Lydecker, that the Reading Audit Committee 
accept the Audit Report as presented, and recommend that the Board of Commissioners 
accept it also.  
Motion Approved: 4:0:0. 
 
Mr. O’Rourke made a motion, seconded by Chair Pacino, to accept the RMLD Audit Committee 
accept the Audit Report as presented, and recommend that the Board of Commissioners 
accept it also.  
Motion Approved: 2:0:0. 
 
Motion to Adjourn 
Chair Pacino made a motion to adjourn.  
Motion Approved: 4:0:0. 
Motion Approved: 2:0:0. 
 
 



 
Town of Reading 
Meeting Minutes 

 

Page | 1 

2016-09-22 LAG 

Board - Committee - Commission - Council: 
 

      RMLD Board of Commissioners             
 

Date:  2018-11-29 Time:  06:00 PM      
 

Building:  Reading Municipal Light Building Location:  
General Managers Conference Room 

 

Address:  230 Ash Street Session:  Joint Meeting 
 

Purpose:  RMLD Audit Version:  Final 
 

Attendees: Members - Present: 
 

David Hennessy, Chair; David Talbot, Vice Chair; John Stempeck, 
Commissioner; Tom O'Rourke, Commissioner; Philip B. Pacino, 
Commissioner 
 

Members - Not Present: 
 

      
 

Others Present: 
 

Town of Reading Audit Committee: Eric Burkhart, Financial Committee; 
Nicholas Bolvin, School Committee; Elaine Webb, School Committee; 
Stephen Herrick, Select Board; Mark Dockser, Financial Committee. 
 
RMLD Staff: Coleen O'Brien, General Manager; Hamid Jaffari, Director of 
Engineering and Operations; Charles Underhill, Director of Integrated 
Resources; Wendy Markiewicz, Director of Business, Finance, and 
Technology; Tracy Schultz, Executive Assistant 
 
Melanson & Heath: Zackary Fentross 
  
Town of Reading: Vanessa Alvarado, Select Board Andy Friedmann, Select 
Board  
 
KP Law: Christopher Pollart, Attorney 
 
 
 

Minutes Respectfully Submitted By:  Philip B. Pacino 
 
 

Topics of Discussion: 
 
 

Call Meeting to Order 
The meeting was called to order. All present introduced themselves.  
 
Review June 30, 2018 Audit Findings with Melanson, Heath & Company, PC and 
the Town of Reading's Audit Committee (Attachment) 
Mr. Fentross began to review the RMLD’s FY 2018 financial statements. Mr. Fentross 
explained that the financial statements are not final because Government Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) Statement 74 information is not included - highlighted in yellow in 
the report. Mr. Fentross explained that the financial statements are normally presented in a 
comparative format. Due to the implementation of GASB Statement 75 that is not the case 
this year. Mr. Fentross stated that Review June 30, 2018 Audit Findings with 



 

Page | 2 

Melanson, Heath & Company, PC and the Town of Reading's Audit Committee 
(Attachment) 
RMLD received a clean opinion, meaning there are no exceptions, and is the same opinion 
that RMLD has received in the past. It is the best opinion that can be received from an 
independent auditing firm. Mr. Fentross directed the group’s attention to RMLD’s Statement 
of Net Position. The 2018 pension trust and enterprise fund are consolidated and presented 
in one column.  
Mr. Fentross stated that under “Capital Assets” the Net Accumulated Depreciation has a 
balance of $76 million. This is a $2.1 million increase and represents the Department’s 
investments in capital assets. The major capital item was the completion of the LED 
streetlight project. Mr. Fentross then reviewed non-current liabilities and explained that the 
net pension liability has a balance of $10 million which represents RMLD’s portion of the 
unfunded liability of the Reading Contributory Retirement System. RMLD’s portion of the 
unfunded liability is about 29 percent. RMLD has an additional $5.7 million set aside. 
Despite the money set aside, Accounting Standards state that the liability cannot be 
reduced on the financial statement. So, technically the statement shows about $10 million 
but the $5.7 million that has been set aside brings the amount down to about $5.1 million. 
Liability decreased by about $2.3 million compared to the prior year due to strong 
investment results of the Reading Contributory Retirement System in CY 2017. In CY17 the 
Reading Contributory Retirement System received $11.7 million in investment results 
greater than what was anticipated. The Reading Contributory Retirement System is 
currently funded at about 79 percent. The net Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) is 
the liability area affected by the implementation of GASB Standard 75. That resulted in a $7 
million increase from the prior year. In the past this line item was presented in accordance 
with GASB Statement 45 and was recognized over a thirty-year period. Statement 75, which 
is being implemented by all municipalities in 2018, no longer recognizes the liability over 30 
years: it is recognized in full. RMLD has always been aware of the total liability, but now it is 
brought to the front of the financial statements.  
 
Mr. Fentross then discussed the Schedule of Net OPEB Liability Contributions and 
Investment Returns. The 2018 column is highlighted in yellow because that information is 
not available yet. Mr. Fentross discussed 2017’s numbers. Mr. Dockser asked if the schedule 
of contributions is on track. Mr. Fentross affirmed. Mr. Fentross then discussed the 
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position and explained that it’s where the other post-
employment trust fund is presented in the financial statements. As of June 30, 2018, the 
balance is $3,519,000. Mr. Fentross explained that it’s in cash and short-term investments. 
Mr. Fentross clarified that he is not telling RMLD what to invest in. Mr. Fentross explained 
the actuaries are using a 7.5 percent investment rate of return and a short-term investment 
returning 7.5 percent is unlikely. Recommendation to consider changing the investments or 
changing the discount rate to reflect what is going on with the OPEB trust fund. Mr. Herrick 
asked about how the OPEB liability is determined, which Mr. Fentross explained.  
 
Mr. Fentross stated that the OPEB trust fund for RMLD currently has $1.9 million sitting in 
MMDT, $1.5 million in a CD with the Northern Bank Trust Company and $64,000 sitting in 
money market.  Mr. Fentross explained that the investments of $3.5 million only earned 
$55,517, which is low. Ms. Markiewicz clarified that the investments are determined by the 
Town of Reading, who invests the funds for RMLD.  Ms. Markiewicz stated that the 7.5 
percent, which comes from the actuary, is also determined by the Town of Reading; RMLD is 
not part of that decision-making process.  Mr. Fentross stated that there are no big swings.  
Costs for current employee benefits pay-as-you-go expenses are incurred as operating 
expenses. Discussion followed as when is the tipping point of fully covered self-supporting 
funds.  Mr. Fentross stated it is a management decision - two items highlighted tell what 
pay-as-you-go transfer and how much.  
 
Mr. Pacino clarified that if money is put aside it can cover maybe 20 years.  Mr. Fentross 
said that the actuary never coming to a zero-balance fund will never run out of money, it 
creates a fully funded date in 15 years.  
 



 

Page | 3 

Mr. O’Rourke commented about changing the investment profile, is it an action item for the 
committee?  Mr. Pacino said that the committee would like to give that instruction to the 
commission.  Mr. Stempeck said that must be assessed with the risk.  Ms. Webb said that 
the committee should go back to the town to adjust the rate.   
Review June 30, 2018 Audit Findings with Melanson, Heath & Company, PC and 
the Town of Reading's Audit Committee (Attachment) 
Mr. Dockser added that the discussion should be balance change asset classes.  Mr. 
Stempeck questioned the 7.5 percent.  Mr. Fentross said that 7.5 percent is the average for 
the actuarial assumptions. 
 
Mr. Herrick clarified there are restrictions on the way monies are invested.  Mr. Fentross 
responded, yes.  Ms. Webb said that the restrictions forcing more conservative investments.   
 
Mr. Dockser commented that the net effect is that it drives the funding liability and 
requirements through the roof. 
 
Mr. Stempeck added that it is a function of how much risk you want, however, it is worth 
reviewing.  Mr. Pacino said the sense of the committee is to look at some evaluation of 
actuarial recommendations with no motion.  A discussion of the CD with a little more 
aggressive actual rate of return.  Discussion then addressed the investments fees assessed 
to be checked with the Town of Reading.  
 
Mr. Stempeck asked who would provide information on the funds form a historical 
perspective with the asset classes.  Mr. Fentross suggested that Retirement Board may be 
able to provide that information as well. 
 
Discussion followed on using the OPEB funds as a funding mechanism.  Attorney Pollart 
stated that relative to the OPEB funds he would have to look into it.  The idea of the Light 
Department lending money to the Town, he does not think that you can do it with above the 
line maybe below-the-line he will have to investigate this. 
 
 Ms. Markiewicz said that RMLD has no control of cash.  Ms. Markiewicz stated that a couple 
of years ago RMLD performed a power supply audit, which is RMLD’s big ticket item.  Mr. 
Talbot suggested performing it regularly where it is a large portion of the budget. 
 
There will be two audits this year due to the transitioning from fiscal year to calendar year.  
Ms. Markiewicz said that it with power suppliers it will work better with the calendar year as 
well as for better budget processes.    
 
Mr. Fentross said that there is no management letter this year and has not been one for a 
number of years, it demonstrates Mses. O’Brien and Markiewicz commitment to internal 
controls they take it very seriously which they do a great job on. 
 
Discussion followed on RMLD compared to other electric municipalities.  Mr. Fentross 
pointed out to ensure that there are appropriate funds on hand to cover expenses.  The 
unrestricted cash and receivables are $23 million then taken out are accounts payable $5.3 
million, the result, $17 million.  Take three months’ operating expenses $91 million divided 
by, twelve, months multiplied by 3 equals $22.8 million.  RMLD has about 2.3 months of 
assets on hand.  We recommend three but 2.3 is above average compared to other 
municipalities.   
 
Ms. Markiewicz said that if an invoice is not process immediately, there is a problem with 
the thirty-day parameters due to the two-week lag time in processing.  RMLD’s vendors are 
aware of the process, so RMLD will not incur penalties with exception of power supply.  
Power supply there is a two percent penalty if late more than twice annually.  The penalty 
can be $600,000 to $2 million on any given wire.  RMLD pays it power supply by wires.  Ms. 
Markiewicz explained the wire process utilized for the power supply. 
 



 

Page | 4 

Ms. Markiewicz reported that with the auto-debit there was a slip-up, not enough money in 
account several months ago on a transition.  They met with the Town Manager to discuss 
this.  A suggestion was made to look at the process.  Ms. Markiewicz said that they have 
met on this over the last couple of years.  They have met with the Ms. Angstrom and Mr. 
Kume as well.   
 
Mr. Pacino made a motion seconded by Ms. Webb that the Town of Reading Audit 
Committee accept the Audit Report as presented. 
Motion carried 4:0:0. 
 
Mr. Pacino made a motion, seconded by Mr. Stempeck that the RMLD Board of 
Commissioners Audit Committee recommends to the RMLD Board of Commissioners to 
accept the Audit Report as presented. 
Motion carried 2:0:0. 
 
Mr. Fentross thanked Mses. Markiewicz and O’Brien for everything they do.  The records 
were ready the first week of August.  Ms. Markiewicz said that the Melanson team is a big 
help as well as staff at RMLD. 
 
Mr. Dockser asked about the capital assets which are up $2.1 million how is that compared 
to other utilities.  Mr. Fentross said that he will get that information and provide it to Ms. 
Markiewicz.  Mr. Dockser commented relative to the December close - the GASB 75 
comparatives Mr. Fentross said that the information on the December report will be the 
same presented here.  Mr. Fentross suggested showing comparatives for December 31, 
2019. 
 
Discussion then addressed the Town of Reading audit.  The three items that have been 
asked, for are the discount rate why is 7.5% utilized, benchmarking other community’s 
asset mixes asset set class allocation, fees associated with each asset class – management 
fees for the funds. 
 
Ms. O’Brien clarified that should Attorney Pollart look at borrowing any other funds other 
than the pension.  There was agreement. 
 
Mr. Hennessy clarified that the three-months of cash on hand is the standard per Mr. 
Fentross, how is that determined.  Mr. Fentross explained that it is the municipal industry 
standard. 
 
Discussion then addressed if hypothetically there was a system failure, funding 
undertakings.  Ms. O’Brien responded that she and Mr. Jaffari perform single failure analysis 
and substation failure analysis.  They also consult with Ms. Markiewicz to ensure there is 
enough cash on hand but RMLD does not have a separate contingency fund.  To keep the 
power going in a system failure would require getting mobile units in place to assist in the 
restoration of power.   
 
Ms. O’Brien added that she and Mr. Jaffari conducted a thorough engineering analysis of all 
RMLD substations.  If you look at RMLD’s capital plan, is laid out in a six-year plan which 
shows maintenance it is very transparent.  We are proceeding at an expedited pace to get 
maintenance up to where it needs to be.  We have fixed the substations to sustain the 
RMLD.  The reliability is excellent therefore the maintenance items are in the capital plan.  If 
there any questions, please reach out to Ms. O’Brien on any of the capital projects. 
 
Mr. Dockser asked if there is utility software to help with maintenance and scheduling.  The 
Town of Reading has added software that has successfully changed the maintenance 
programs and systems.  Ms. O’Brien said that RMLD do have systems in place.   
 
Mr. Jaffari explained that a study for transformers 25 years and older was performed in 
2015 as part of a reliability study performed by Booth (an outside consultant).   Based on 
the findings that represents $9 million in assets need to be addressed.  In the next three 



 

Page | 5 

years, it will be required.  In addition, meter replacement is necessary for the outage 
management system with a cost of $2 million.  Mr. Jaffari reported that $1 million was 
spent cleaning up leaking transformers which they are trying to decrease this with the 
improved maintenance. 
 
Motion to Adjourn 
At 7:16 p.m.  Mr. Pacino made a motion seconded by Mr. Stempeck to adjourn the meeting. 
Motion carried 2:0:0. 
 
 



 
Town of Reading 
Meeting Minutes 

 

Page | 1 

2016-09-22 LAG 

Board - Committee - Commission - Council: 
 

      RMLD Board of Commissioners             
 

Date:  2019-05-23 Time:  06:00 PM      
 

Building:  Reading Municipal Light Building Location:  
General Managers Conference Room 

 

Address:  230 Ash Street Session:  Open Session 
 

Purpose:  General Business Version:  Draft 
 

Attendees: Members - Present: 
 

Philip B. Pacino, Commissioner, Thomas O'Rourke, Commissioner;  
 

Members - Not Present: 
 

      
 

Others Present: 
 

RMLD Staff: Coleen O'Brien, General Manager; Wendy Markiewicz, Director 
of Business, Finance and Utility Technology; Tracy Schultz, Executive 
Assistant 
 
Melanson Heath & P.C.: Zackary Fentross, CPA  
 
Town of Reading: Mark Dockser, Audit Committee, Stephen Herrick, Audit 
Committee, Eric Burkhart, Finance Committee   
 
 

Minutes Respectfully Submitted By:  Philip B. Pacino, Chair 
 
 

Topics of Discussion: 
 
 

Call Meeting to Order 
 Mr. Pacino called the meeting to order. 
 
Review December 31, 2018 Audit Findings with Melanson, Heath & Company, PC 
and the Town of Reading's Audit Committee (Attachment) 
Mr. Fentross, from Melanson & Heath, introduced himself and explained his firm conducted a 
six-month audit for the period ending December 31, 2018. Mr. Fentross stated that the 
Financial Statements for light departments are typically presented on a comparative basis 
however, not this year because the Income Statement Revenues and Expenses are only 
reflective for a six-month period. In December 2020, the audit will be presented on a 
comparative basis when there are two full years to present. 
 
Mr. Dockser clarified this audit is it for the second six months? Mr. Fentross replied that this 
is the first and only six-month audit. Mr. Fentross explained that the last audit was July 1, 
2017 to June 30, 2018. This audit is from July 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018. 
 
Ms. O’Brien pointed out that from a kilowatt sales standpoint, the audit ending on June 30, 
2018 will reflect different sales, due to more air conditioning, peak and cooling days, it will 
not be an even split. Mr. Fentross added that you will see swings due to the six-month 
timeframe and he will provide illustrative examples. Mr. Burkhart asked are there particular 
issues that may be highlighted in the audit presentation whereas, not having a comparable 



 

Page | 2 

is odd. Mr. Fentross stated that the differences will be pointed out throughout his 
presentation. 
 
Mr. Fentross stated that the RMLD had positive operating results and a well-funded Other 
Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Trust Fund. The audit did not result in a Management 
Letter.  
 
The Department received a clean opinion, which is the best opinion that can be received 
from an independent auditing firm. It is the same opinion that the Department has received 
in prior years.  
 
Mr. Fentross then discussed the Statement of Net Position. The asset and liability figures 
from December 31 to June 30, for the most part, comparable. The number with the biggest 
difference between June 30 and December 31 is Unrestricted Cash and Short-Term 
investments $20,832,000 representing a $8.4 million increase compared to June 30. Mr. 
Fentross explained that (this in part due to operations), the Department had a change in 
Net Position/Net Income of $4.9 million coupled with the timing on the Account Payables 
representing a $4.4 million increase from June 30. The reason this happened was due to 
large purchase power invoices that were not paid, due to timing. 
 
Receivables for net of allowances for Uncollectibles, had a balance of $8,705,000 
representing a $1.6 million decrease from June 30. This is primarily due to the 
Department’s calculation for unbilled revenues. When RMLD bills go out for July or January 
that represents activity that occurred in the prior month. The Department has a 
methodology in place for the value of these bills and how they should be allocated to the 
prior fiscal year. In July generally speaking, there is higher revenue. July bills include a lot 
of air conditioning use, the revenues that the Department receives in July are typically 
higher than the revenues received in January.  
 
Mr. Fentross then addressed the cash balance. Mr. Fentross explained that they looked at 
the Unrestricted Cash position of the $20,832,000 then add in the Receivable balance 
$8,705,000 then subtract the Accounts Payable of $9,718,000 comparing that to average 
monthly expenditures. We like to see the average of three months operating cash on hand. 
RMLD has about 2.5 months, cash on hand which up from June 30, 2018 the ratio was at 
2.3 months, the Department is trending in the right direction towards the 3 months 
operating cash on hand. 
 
Mr. Fentross then discussed Net Pension Liability, stating that it has a balance of about 
$10,781,000. It is the same number presented in the June 30, 2018 Financial Statements. 
This represents the Department’s portion of the Reading Contributory Retirement System 
total unfunded pension liability. The Department’s portion of that total unfunded liability is 
about 29%. The contributory retirement system is about 79% funded. The average in the 
Commonwealth is 70%, Reading is above average in its funding. Mr. Fentross reminded the 
Commissioners that the Department has set aside some funds to help fund the liability. The 
Pension Trust has a balance of $5,878,000. However, considering the funds set aside, the 
Department’s true liability is about $4.9 million, the net effect of $10,781,000 less the 
$5,878,000. 
 
According to accounting standards, that cannot reduce the liability that is presented, 
because it is not in the control of the contributory retirement system. Mr. Fentross 
suggested not giving the $5.9 million to the retirement system because it will not decrease 
the liability for the RMLD dollar for dollar. It will decrease the liability for everyone equally. 
He suggested to keep the funds at the RMLD. It was asked if this is common practice for 
other light boards to set aside their funds? Mr. Fentross replied that it is not, RMLD is the 
only one that he audits that has a Pension Trust. 
 
Mr. Dockser clarified if there was a desire to raise funds such as bonding, would the bonding 
authority look at it that RMLD has a liability of $10.8 million, a Pension Trust of $5.8 million 
so it is $5 million. Mr. Fentross said that may require some clarification from management 



 

Page | 3 

to walk the bonding company through that. Mr. Dockser commented that from a legal point 
of view the Pension Trust is for the pension, Mr. Fentross concurred. The liability did not 
change and there are two options that were discussed with management. The Department 
could present this liability as of December 31, 2017 and be within the accounting standards 
or present it as of December 31, 2018 - however, the audit and figures would not be 
available until the future. Mr. Fentross stated that management decided they did not want 
to wait therefore the numbers did not change from June 30 to December 31. With the 
retirement system, they are going to have to change their methodology for their valuation. 
They will be working on a prior valuation but are moving to a current valuation so there will 
be no issue moving forward. They have been in contact with the Town of Reading, its 
actuary, auditors, and everyone is on the same page.  
 
Mr. Fentross then discussed the net Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB) liability, which 
has a balance of $7,374,000, there was an increase of $216,000 from June 30, 2018. Mr. 
Fentross reported that the actuary issued a separate Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board Statement Numbers 74 and 75 specifically for the Department. Originally the 
actuaries comingled the Town of Reading and RMLD together and issued this as one report 
for June 30. 2018. The actuary issued a separate report for the December 31 year end. 
There was an increase in the net liability due to poor investment results. The assumption 
was the earnings on those assets sitting in the OPEB Trust Fund were expected to be 
$200,000 whereas $40,000 was earned. The $160,000 less than the anticipated projection 
resulted in the increase in that liability. 
 
Mr. Fentross said that the Department does have a well-funded OPEB Trust Fund at 33%. 
Mr. O’Rourke clarified the $200,000 what was the percentage of earnings anticipated. Mr. 
Fentross responded, 7.5% rate of return. Mr. Fentross stated that one of the questions is 
why the 7.5% rate of return valuation utilized. Mr. Fentross noted that he went back over 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement Number 74, paragraph 52 states that 
the discount rate should be based off current and future investment earnings. Mr. Fentross 
stated that they spoke with the Town of Reading, Ms. Angstrom the plan is ultimately to put 
those funds in with PRIT. If the funds are with PRIT the 7.5% makes sense. Using the 7.5% 
discount rate is in conformance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 
Number 74, paragraph 52. Mr. Fentross said that 7.5% makes sense to him with the 
expectation that the Town will be moving those funds into PRIT. Currently the funds are in a 
MMDT earning less than 1% with a CD the earnings would be 2.3%. 
 
Mr. Fentross then addressed the next question is there any benchmark data available for 
the asset mix. Mr. Fentross performed extensive research and could not find anything. It is 
a fantastic question and the person to handle that question more effectively would be a 
financial advisor. 
 
The final question is what was the percentage of management fees that are charged on 
investments. Mr. Fentross performed extensive research but could not come up with 
anything firm. He performed an analysis comparing it to other clients by looking at their 
statements, the fees are not specifically laid out how they are being calculated within the 
information provided to him. He would defer to an investment advisor on how those fees are 
being charged and calculated. It is a fantastic question, but the ultimate Board of Trustees 
for the OPEB Trust Fund and financial advisor would be better able to answer that question. 
 
Mr. Dockser asked Mr. Burkhart if they should bring this to Ms. Angstrom, so she can 
approach the advisor, he agreed. 
 
Mr. Fentross said that there is a Massachusetts general law that relates to OPEB Trust Funds 
that changed with the Massachusetts Modernization Act. It is his understanding that the 
RMLD Board reauthorized the OPEB Trust Fund under that Massachusetts General Law in 
April 2018. Part of the new requirements under the Massachusetts law is to have a formal 
trust document. He has been told that document is currently with legal counsel. The 
additional piece is that there needs to be a Board of Trustees for OPEB Trust Fund. From 
what he understands, the Town is looking into individuals who could be on that Trust Board.  



 

Page | 4 

 
Mr. Dockser asked for clarification relative to the Accounts Payable. Mr. Fentross replied that 
there was nothing done incorrectly by the Department, it was a timing issue. 
 
Mr. Fentross then moved on to the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net 
Position. The figures presented are only for a six-month period. However, as part of the 
audit, the auditors doubled the six-month figures and then compared them to 12-month 
periods: Fiscal Year 18 and Fiscal Year 17 were comparable. 
 
 Mr. Fentross then stated that the change in Net Position has a balance of $4,891,000. 
There was a question because this was for a six-month period, whether the Department of 
Public Utilities (DPU) 8% rate of return applied for a six-month period, or should it be for 
4% rate of return. He spoke with Paul Osborne, DPU Director of Rates and from the DPU’s 
perspective 8% is fine. The $4.9 million was compared to the rate of return for the 
Department, it comes in below 8%. 
 
The Statement of Fiduciary Net Position is where the OPEB Trust Fund is presented. It has a 
balance of $3,561,000. In 2018, the total OPEB liability was $10,705,000. However, the 
Department has put aside $3,561,000 towards funding that liability, which leaves a total 
unfunded liability of $7,144,000. It is about 33% funded, which is a strong position for the 
Department to be in. When comparing the OPEB liability to towns, they are generally well 
below 10% funded. Other light departments are anywhere between 20% to 40%, to be at 
33% is a strong position for the Department. Mr. Fentross concluded by stating that the 
Department had positive operating results, has a well-funded OPEB Trust Fund, and there 
was no Management Letter. 
 
Mr. Dockser asked about the OPEB, the schedule of contributions what is the formulation for 
what that contribution is going to be because it is not an actuarially determined number. Mr. 
Fentross said that the Department wants to fund what is actuarially determined. There was 
a bit of confusion in 2017 as to what was to be funded. There was a contribution excess in 
2018 to cover the deficiency in 2017. Ms. Markiewicz said that we had an old actuarial 
report that we were using, there was not anything new. When the report was updated, the 
fund was higher than what was paid. This past year, RMLD funded what it missed last year. 
Mr. Dockser said that the goal would be what is actuarially determined. Mr. Fentross 
explained that the actuary determined that contributions should match what was actually 
contributed in full. 
 
Mr. O’Rourke asked Mr. Fentross if there were any recommendations. Mr. Fentross 
responded that there is nothing to be presented in a Management Letter and there were a 
couple of verbal recommendations. Mr. Fentross noted that any verbal recommendations 
Ms. Markiewicz corrects immediately and does a great job to ensure internal controls are up 
to par and are operating appropriately. Ms. Markiewicz added that she is always trying to 
make improvements. 
 
Mr. Pacino made a motion seconded by Mr. Dockser that the Audit Committee accept the 
Audit Report as presented. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
At this point in the meeting Mr. Herrick arrived apologized for being so late. Mr. Fentross 
recapped the findings presented earlier in this meeting to Mr. Herrick. Mr. Fentross added 
that he is not recommending to present comparative again because the figures in this report 
on the Net Income side are for six months therefore not comparable for a full year. Mr. 
Herrick asked that there will be no effort to make a representative year. Mr. Fentross said 
that it would not be a correct accounting approach to show the full year. The year that was 
audited is six months. Mr. Pacino suggested looking at the Statement of Net Positions that 
would be comparable. Mr. Fentross said that he will investigate it, he is not sure if it is 
appropriate to present it on a comparative basis and the other schedule on a non-
comparative basis. If allowable will bring it to management’s attention. Mr. Herrick 
commented that would be helpful to see that you are trying to capture the trend. Mr. 



 

Page | 5 

Fentross noted that in addition to the Income Statement side of the equation, essentially it 
was doubled up. In our audit workpapers to make sure that figures where comparable work 
was performed to ensure what was to be expected for a full year, they looked at 2017 and 
2018. Mr. Herrick asked if there was seasonal fluctuation. Mr. Fentross replied that was a 
little bit of this effecting unbilled revenues. It affects the receivables as opposed to the 
revenues side. Bills go out in July for activities that take place in June. In July there is an 
increase in revenue due to the customers using a lot of air conditioners. There was a higher 
calculation for that Unbilled Receivable. It is generally recorded on the June 30 Financial 
Statements. When the Department moved to December 31, now that calculation is being 
billed off of January bills, but those bills do not have the air conditioning component. Those 
revenues were a bit less. This represents a seasonal fluctuation. It was a $1.5 million swing 
between them. 
 
Mr. Fentross concluded that the Department is in a strong financial position. Positive 
operating results of approximately $4.9 million over the six-month period. The OPEB Trust 
Fund is well funded at approximately 33%, most towns in the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts are below 10% comparative to other light departments that are at 25% to 
40%, RMLD’s is in the middle of this. There was no Management Letter. 
 
Ms. Markiewicz added that Mr. Fentross and his team do a great job. 
 
Mr. Fentross said that from his previous statements that Ms. Markiewicz and her team are 
always well prepared which makes the audit process smooth as possible and extended his 
thanks. The general ledger is in good working condition and Ms. Markiewicz is held in high 
regards for being prepared before her contemporaries. Ms. Markiewicz thanked the 
management staff as well. 
 
Motion to Adjourn 
Mr. Pacino made a motion seconded by Mr. O’Rourke to adjourn the meeting. 
Motion carried 2:0:0. 
 



 
Town of Reading 
Meeting Minutes 

 

Page | 1 

2016-09-22 LAG 

Board - Committee - Commission - Council: 
 

Audit Committee RMLD Board of Commissioners             
 

Date:  7-16-2020 Time:  5:30 PM      
 

Building:  Reading Municipal Light Building Location:                       
 

Address:  230 Ash Street Session:  Open Session 
 

Purpose:  General Business Version:  Draft 
 

Attendees: Members - Present: 
 

Philip B. Pacino, Commissioner, John Stempeck, Commissioner 
 

Members - Not Present: 
 

      
 

Others Present: 
 

RMLD Staff: Coleen O'Brien, General Manager; Wendy Markiewicz, Director 
of Business, Finance and Utility Technology; Tracy Schultz, Executive 
Assistant 
 
Melanson: Zackary Fentross, Andrew Gordon 
 
Vivek Soni, Reading CAB Repesentative 
 
Town of Reading: Mark Dockser, Audit Committee, Stephen Herrick, Audit 
Committee, Carla Nazzaro, Audit Committee, Ed Ross, Finance Committee, 
Shawn Brandt, School Committee 
  
 

Minutes Respectfully Submitted By:  Philip B. Pacino 
 
 

Topics of Discussion: 
 
 

Due to the pandemic and the March 12, 2020 Governor's Executive Order Suspending 
Certain Provisions of the Open Meeting Law, all participants attended remotely. 
 
Call Meeting to Order 
Mr. Pacino called the meeting to order. 
 
Review Calendar Year 2019 Audit Findings with Melanson, Heath & Company, PC 
and the Town of Reading's Audit Committee (Attachment) 
Mr. Fentross introduced himself and explained that the financial statements are not 
presented on a comparative basis because the prior audit was for a six-month period. This 
was due to RMLD moving from a fiscal year ending June 30 to a calendar year ending 
December 31. Comparative financials will be presented starting with the December 31, 2020 
audit.  
 
Mr. Fentross stated that the RMLD had positive operating results for calendar year 2019, a 
well-funded OPEB trust fund, and no management letter. RMLD received a clean opinion, 
which is the best opinion that can be received from an independent audit and is the same 
opinion that the has been received in prior years. Mr. Fentross presented the Statement of 
Net Position. The capital assets net of accumulated depreciation has a balance of about 



 

Page | 2 

$79,084,000, which is approximately a $1.8 million increase from the previous year. The 
increase is primarily due to Review Calendar Year 2019 Audit Findings with 
Melanson, Heath & Company, PC and the Town of Reading's Audit Committee 
(Attachment) 
improvements in infrastructure. The Department spent $6.5 million in total capital asset 
additions, but that was softened by $4.5 million in depreciation expense, which results in 
the $1.9 million increase.  
 
Major capital asset additions that took place in calendar year 2019 included $1.1 million for 
new poles and fixtures, $2 million on overhead conductors, and $1.3 million on underground 
conduit and devices.  
 
Mr. Fentross then discussed non-current liabilities. The net pension liability has a balance of 
about $14,610,000 and represents the Department’s portion (28 percent) of the total 
unfunded liability for the Reading Contributory Retirement System. The system as a total is 
at 72 percent funded. The average in the Commonwealth is 65 to 70 percent. This is a $3.8 
million increase from the prior year, which is due to the retirement system’s investments 
coming in at $13.4 million less than what was anticipated. The net OPEB liability has a 
balance of about $7,094,000, which is a decrease of about $280,000 compared to the prior 
year. RMLD has set aside funds to fund about 36 percent of that liability. This is a strong 
position for RMLD: most towns in the Commonwealth have only funded one to ten percent. 
Other light departments in Massachusetts have funded between 20 to 40 percent of that 
liability. Mr. Fentross reported on purchase power expenses, which has a balance of about 
$61,027,000. This is a decrease of about $9 million from the prior year. Electric sales under 
operating revenues has a balance of roughly $89,475,000. RMLD had savings on the cost of 
power that it purchased and passed those savings on to the customers. Mr. Fentross noted 
that the change in net position has a balance of approximately $4,319,000. This is 
essentially RMLD’s net income. RMLD had strong operating results. 
 
Mr. Pacino asked for a change to the draft Financial Statements relative to Note 22, page 
39, to capture the gravity and unknown of the pandemic situation. 
 
The Audit Committee requested Melanson to provide information on the following:  
 

• How much debt would be a reasonable amount for an electric light department of 
Reading’s size. 

• How much debt did each of the eight utilities have, how many have them, its use, 
and amount of current debt?  

• How many of RMLDs eight departments have no debt. 
• What was the debt used for in each department? 
• How often municipal light departments utilize debt? 

 
Mr. Pacino made a motion seconded by Mr. Stempeck to approve that the Audit Report from 
Melanson, Calendar Year ended December 31, 2019 as presented and as amended by the 
Audit Committee, on the recommendation of the General Manager. 
Motion carried unanimously by a roll call vote. 
 
Motion to Adjourn 
Mr. Pacino made a motion seconded by Stempeck. 
Motion carried by a roll call vote 2:0:0. 



 
Town of Reading 
Meeting Minutes 

 

Page | 1 

2016-09-22 LAG 

Board - Committee - Commission - Council: 
 

      RMLD Audit Committee             
 

Date:  2021-05-19 Time:  5:30 PM      
 

Building:                       Location:                       
 

Address:                       Session:  Open Session 
 

Purpose:  Review 2022 RMLD Audit Findings Version:  Draft 
 

Attendees: Members - Present: 
 

Mr. Edward Ross, Chair, Finance Committee, Town of Reading; Mr. Shawn 
Brandt, School Committee, Town of Reading; Ms. Carla Nazzaro, School 
Committee, Town of Reading; Mr. Philip B. Pacino, Commissioner, RMLD; Mr. 
John Stempeck, Commissioner, RMLD.  
 

Members - Not Present: 
 

Mr. Eric Burkhart, Finance Committee, Town of Reading; Mr. Mark Dockser, 
Select Board, Town of Reading; Mr. Stephen Herrick, Select Board, Town of 
Reading.  
 

Others Present: 
 

Presenting: Mr. Zack Fentross, Melanson; Mr. Andrew Gordon, Melanson. 
 
RMLD Staff: Ms. Coleen O'Brien, General Manager, RMLD; Ms. Wendy 
Markiewicz, Director of Business and Finance, RMLD; Mr. Greg Phipps, 
Director of Integrated Resources, RMLD; Ms. Janet Walsh, Director of 
Human Resources, RMLD; Ms. Kathleen Rybak, Operational Assistant to 
Engineering & Operations, RMLD; Ms. Erica Morse, Executive Assistant, 
RMLD. 
 
Others: Mr. Christopher Haley, Select Board, Town of Reading; Ms. Sharon 
Angstrom, Finance Director / Town Accountant, Town of Reading; Mr. Mark 
Zarrow, Finance Committee, Town of Reading. 
 

Minutes Respectfully Submitted By:  Mr. Phil Pacino, Secretary Pro Team.   
 
 

Topics of Discussion: 
 
 

Due to the pandemic and the March 12, 2020, Governor’s Executive Order Suspending the 
Certain Provisions of the Open Meeting Law, all participants attended remotely. 
 

1. Call Meeting to Order  
Chair Ross called the Town of Reading Annual Audit Committee Meeting to order at 
5:30PM. 
 
Sub Committee Chair Pacino called the RMLD Board of Commissioners Sub 
Committee to order at 5:35PM. 
 

2. Opening Remarks  
Mr. Ross opened the meeting by restating the purpose and agenda: to review the 
RMLD 2020 Audit findings from Melanson. 
 



 

Page | 2 

3. Introductions  
Mr. Pacino initiated attendee introductions. Ms. Markiewicz welcomed the group and 
introduced the presenters from Melanson: Mr. Zack Fentross, Audit Manager, and 
Andrew Gordon, Audit Supervisor. 
 

4. Calendar Year 2020 Audit Findings – Melanson; Town of Reading’s Audit Committee 
Materials: Annual Financial Statements- December 31, 2020 (Draft, dated May 12, 
2021) 
Presentation, PDF Document of Financial Report 
Audit Findings Presentation: Mr. Fentross reported that the financial statements 
would be presented in a comparative basis. Mr. Fentross noted that this was a result 
of the department moving to a December 31 year end from a June 30 year end and 
the implementation of GASB 74 and 75, which do not allow comparative statements.  
The takeaway of the 2020 Audit Findings was that the department had positive 
operating results; a well-funded OPEB Trust Fund; and there was no management 
letter. Mr. Fentross reported that RMLD received a clean opinion; the best opinion 
you can receive from an Independent Audit, and there are no exceptions. This 
opinion is consistent with prior years (Independent Auditor Report, Pages 1-2). 
 
Mr. Fentross noted that (Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Pages 3-7) 
summarizes the results of operations and a few major financial areas; this section 
touches on the same topics found in (Enterprise Fund-Statement of Net Position, 
Page 8). 
 
Mr. Fentross noted that the (Statement of Net Position, Page 8) is essentially a 
balance sheet, and highlighted the assets, liabilities, and fund balance. These items 
were consistent from CY19 to CY20. A few items had a decent swing from CY19 to 
CY20: capital assets; net pension liability; net OPEB liability; electrical sales and 
purchase power; and intergovernmental grants.  
 
Mr. Fentross reported that the net of accumulated depreciation increased from CY19 
($2.4m). This increase was a result of additions to capital assets ($7.3m), which was 
softened by depreciation expense ($4.7m). Some major capital item additions in 
CY20 were pole and fixture distributions; overhead conductors; underground 
conductors and devices; and line transformers. (Enterprise Fund-Statement of Net 
Position, Page 8) 
 
Mr. Fentross noted that net pension liability represents the department’s portion of 
total unfunded liability for the Reading Contributory Retirement System as of 
December 31, 2019 and is being presented one year in arrears (allowable per GASB 
standards). There was a decrease in total net pension liability in CY20 ($2.5m to 
$2.6m). The primary reason for the decrease is due to the Retirement System’s 
investment results for CY20 coming in greater than anticipated in CY19 ($10.1m); 
RMLD’s benefit was about $2.9m. RMLD’s proportionate share of total unfunded 
liability is about 28%.  
 
The Reading Retirement System is funded higher (78%) than the average seen in 
the Commonwealth (66%). RMLD has money set aside ($6.6m) to help fund the net 
pension liability and make contributions to the retirement system in the future. 
These funds (Per GASB) cannot reduce the net pension liability. This is a strong 
financial position for RMLD to be in. (Enterprise Fund-Statement of Net Position, 
Page 8) 
 
Mr. Fentross reported that the Net OPEB liability remains relatively unchanged from 
CY19. This liability is actuarially determined to understand the future liability and 
payments that RMLD will have to make for Health Insurance. RMLD has begun to 
fund this liability ($7.166m; 38.62% of the Total OPEB Liability). RMLD is in a 
favorable position compared to Towns in the Commonwealth (average 0-10% 
funded) and on the higher end compared to light departments (average 20%-40% 



 

Page | 3 

funded). This data will be viewed favorably by users of the financial statements. 
(Enterprise Fund-Statement of Net Position, Page 8), (Required Supplementary 
Information- OPEB Page 44) 
 
Mr. Fentross stated that the Net OPEB Liability is based on an actuarial valuation 
reported June 30, 2018. GASB 74 and GASB 75 relate to this liability; GASB 75 
states that the actuarial valuation must be within 30 months and one day from the 
date of the financial statements, where GASB 74 states the actuarial valuation must 
be within 24 months from the date of the financial statements. The presentation of 
this liability is in accordance with the GASB 75 standards but is not with GASB 74. 
Mr. Fentross consulted Segal and determined that this fact would not have a material 
impact on the company’s financial statements. From this determination, Melanson 
concluded that it was not necessary to qualify their opinion or wait to receive an 
updated valuation in accordance with those standards. After bringing this point over 
to Ms. Kathy Riley, Senior VP and Actuary at Segal, Melanson formed the opinion 
that it was a simple oversight.  
 
Mr. Fentross recommended that a discussion take place between the town, RMLD, 
the actuary, and Melanson to ensure that this situation does not reoccur and to find 
a decision best for all parties involved. One option worth discussion is to have a 
separate valuation for RMLD. He recounted a conversation with Ed Boyd, Principal for 
the Town of Reading’s Audit, and stated that Mr. Boyd supported this option, which 
he felt would allow for ease of financial reporting on the Town’s financial statements 
and provide clarification. Contrarily, Mr. Fentross recounted a conversation with Ms. 
Riley who was unsure if that would be in the best interest given certain factors. Mr. 
Fentross did not want to speak for Ms. Riley further in this meeting.  
 
Mr. Fentross reported a decrease in electric sales, net of discounts, ($2.6m) in 
conjunction with a decrease of purchase power ($3.7m). In CY20 there was a 
decrease in cost of power; the cost savings that RMLD saw as a result passed 
through to the customer. These factors off set each other as they resulted in both 
the decrease in revenue and expense. (Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and 
Changes in Net Position, Page 9) 
 
Mr. Fentross reported that the CY20 intergovernmental grant was primarily made up 
of a State Grant for a battery project ($445k) and the remaining balance ($7K) was 
CARES federal money. The department only received a small fraction of the funds 
that were out there to ensure proper social distancing within the building and did not 
receive any additional grants besides a small balance for COVID funding. (Statement 
of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position, Page 9)  
 
Mr. Fentross reported that RMLD had positive cash flows from their operating 
activities: RMLD used their operating activities on the acquisition and construction of 
capital assets ($2.3m). (Statement of Cash Flows, Page 10) 
 
Mr. Brandt asked about RMLD’s Pension liabilities, to which Mr. Fentross clarified are 
actuarially determined pension liabilities derived from the Retirement System (Not 
the Town). Mr. Brandt asked a follow up question: In the same way that the 
numbers here are not strictly in compliance with GASB 74, is that also true of the 
Retirement System?  Mr. Fentross responded that the net pension liability shown 
here is governed by GASB 67 and 68 and is in line with no issues. 
 
Mr. Brandt asked a follow up question: Is it safe to assume that part of the 
suggestion to separate out and do an actuary valuation of RMLD is rooted in the fact 
that the applicable GASB rules are not consistent with one another? Mr. Fentross 
responded that the recommendation is to ensure that this does not happen again; 
there may be a year where the actuary would say that it does have a material impact 
and is not in line and then we (Melanson) would have to qualify our opinion. The 
intent is to keep the department away from having to qualify their opinion over a 



 

Page | 4 

small item such as a 20-month difference in an actuary valuation and date of the 
financial statements. Ms. Markiewicz stated that RMLD has had separate valuations 
in the past (5-6 years ago) until it was decided to combine the valuation with the 
town.  
 
Mr. Ross asked about the consistency of the financial statements; Has there ever 
been a time where the statements were inconsistent? Mr. Fentross responded that 
the statements have been consistent year after year with RMLD. The only swings 
that you will see year to year are the following: decrease in the cost of purchase 
power passed along to the customer as well as with net pensions and OPEB liabilities 
which can change dramatically depending on the market, which is outside the control 
of RMLD. (Enterprise Fund-Statement of Net Position, Page 8) 
 
Mr. Ross asked about the intergovernmental grants: Is the portion of the Battery 
Project Grant (CY20) included in the CY19 balance? Mr. Fentross responded that the 
CY19 balance was primarily refunds from FEMA and MEMA for costs associated with 
natural disasters that the department was being reimbursed for. Typically, that line 
item does not carry over year to year, usually varies, and is not consistent with the 
same grant. Town financials will be consistent, but Light Departments vary with type 
of grants or dollar amount received. Ms. Markiewicz agreed that the most consistent 
items are FEMA and MEMA.  Ms. Markiewicz noted that going forward it can be 
expected that RMLD will get another grant for the battery storage: Mr. Ross asked in 
addition to? Ms. Markiewicz responded yes as everything has a timeline.  
 
Mr. Pacino made a motion that the Town of Reading Audit Committee recommend to 
the RMLD Board of Commissioners they accept the audit as performed and as 
presented by Melanson, seconded by Mr. Brant. 
Motion Carried (4:0) (4 in favor, 0 opposed).  
 
Mr. Pacino made a motion that the Audit Subcommittee of the RMLD Board of 
Commissioners recommend that the RMLD Board of Commissioners accept the Audit, 
seconded by Mr. Stempeck.  
Motion Carried (2:0) (2 in favor, 0 opposed) 
 

5. Motion to Adjourn. 
 
At 6:00PM Mr. Pacino made a motion to adjourn the RMLD Audit Subcommittee, 
seconded by Mr. Stempeck.  
Motion Carried (2:0) (2 in favor, 0 opposed) 
 
At 6:02PM Mr. Pacino made a motion to adjourn the Regular Town of Reading Audit 
Committee Meeting, Mr. Ross, Chair, agreed, seconded by Mr. Brandt.  
Motion Carried (4:0) (4 in favor, 0 opposed) 
 
The RMLD Audit Committee Meeting adjourned at 6:02PM. 



 
Town of Reading 
Meeting Minutes 

 

Page | 1 

2016-09-22 LAG 

Board - Committee - Commission - Council: 
 

      RMLD Audit Committee             
 

Date:  2022-05-23 Time:           
 

Building:  Reading Municipal Light Building Location:  Winfred Spurr Audio Visual Room 
 

Address:  230 Ash Street Session:  Open Session 
 

Purpose:  Review of RMLD 2021 Audit 
Findings  

Version:  Draft 

 

Attendees: Members - Present: 
 

RMLD Board of Commissioners: Philip Pacino, Vice Chair, Sub-Audit 
Committee Chair; Robert Coulter, Commissioner. 
 
Town of Reading Audit Committee: Jeanne Borawski, Acting Chair, Finance 
Committee; Shawn Brandt, ; Stephen Herrick,  Carla Nazzaro,   
 

Members - Not Present: 
 

Town of Reading Audit Committee: Edward Ross, Finance Committee; Mark 
Dockser, Select Board.    
 

Others Present: 
 

RMLD Staff: Coleen O’Brien, General Manager; Hamid Jaffari, Director of 
Engineering and Operations; Wendy Markiewicz, Director of Business & 
Finance; Gregory Phipps, Director of Integrated Resources; Janet Walsh, 
Director of Human Resources; Erica Morse, Executive Assistant. 
 
Presenter: Zachary Fentross, CPA, Audit Manager, Melanson.   
 

Minutes Respectfully Submitted By:  Philip B. Pacino 
 
 

Topics of Discussion: 
 
 

Call Meeting to Order 

Mr. Pacino called the RMLD Board of Commissioners (BoC) Sub-Audit Committee meeting to 
order at 6:00 PM. 

Chair Borawski called the Town of Reading Audit Committee meeting to order at 6:00 PM.  

Opening Remarks and Introductions  
Chair Borawski asked all attendees to identify themselves.  

Mr. Brandt, Mr. Haley, and Ms. Angstrom attended remotely.  

Presentation of 2021 Financial Audit Findings 
Zackary Fentross, CPA, Melanson, presented the 2021 Financial Audit findings.  

Key points included:  

• RMLD had positive operating results, a well-funded OPEB (Other Post-Employment 
Benefits), and there was no management letter. RMLD received a clean opinion with 
no exceptions, consistent with prior years.  
  



 

Page | 2 

• The Management's Discussion and Analysis section offers a narrative summary of 
operational results and major financial areas. 
 

• Mr. Fentross discussed the statement of net position, which was presented on a 
comparative basis, and highlighted the changes between 2020 and 2021. 
 

• Unrestricted cash and short-term investments decreased by $3.3 million, due to the 
use of operating funds for capital improvements in 2021. 
 

• Capital assets net of accumulated depreciation increased by $3.3 million, largely due 
to capital improvements made in 2021, which were funded through operating cash 
rather than bonding. 
 

• Mr. Fentross provided examples of various capital improvements in 2021 and 
emphasized that the two largest were overhead and underground conductors. 
 

• The net pension liability was largely unchanged from the prior year and represents 
RMLD's proportional share of the total unfunded liability for the Reading Contributory 
Retirement System, which is about 79% funded. 
 

• Mr. Fentross discussed the pension trust, which was dissolved in January 2022, and 
noted that this will result in a swing between restricted and unrestricted cash next 
year.  
 

• Mr. Fentross discussed the net OPEB liability (essentially health insurance), which 
decreased by $3 million from 2020 due to a change in benefit terms. This change 
allowed the actuary to reduce RMLD’s long-term liability.  
 

• RMLD's OPEB liability is 55% funded, which is a good financial position compared to 
other towns and cities. 
 

• Mr. Fentross addressed a question concerning the rationale and consequences of the 
benefit term change, explaining that it pertains to Part A and Part B premiums, 
resulting in an increased liability for the Town. Ms. Angstrom further clarified that the 
change is due to individuals over 65 who were on the Blue Cross Blue Shield plan 
being transitioned to the more cost-effective Medicare supplement. 
 

• In response to Chair Borawski's query about when RMLD can expect to fully pay off 
the OPEB and Pension Trust liabilities, Ms. Angstrom indicated that the Pension 
Trust's target date has been extended from 2029 to 2030, and the OPEB is likely to 
follow a similar timeline, as RMLD is currently ahead of schedule. 
 

• Mr. Fentross presented the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, & Change in Net 
Position on a comparative basis, emphasizing the increase in purchase power 
expenses and the decrease in operating expenses. 
 

• Purchase Power increased by 3 million dollars, due to RMLD making a concerted 
effort to increase their energy buying portfolio to contain more non-carbon resources 
(wind, hydro etc.), which are more expensive than carbon resources. 
 

• Mr. Fentross noted that the increase in purchase power expenses was offset because 
power supply is a pass-through charge to the rate payers.  
 

• Operating expenses decreased by 2.3 million dollars, due to the decrease in the 
OPEB liability. Fentross noted that this decrease is slightly misleading. When there is 
a change in benefit terms, the associated income statement impact for that item hits 
within 1 year. Although there appears to be a decrease, operating expenses were 
about the same as last year.  
 



 

Page | 3 

• Mr. Pacino raised a point regarding purchased power and Renewable Energy 
Certificates (RECs), confirming that when RMLD sells RECs, the purchased power 
number is reduced. 
 

• Mr. Fentross clarified that a REC is acquired when RMLD purchases renewable 
energy, and the department can either sell or retire the certificates. Currently, there 
is no accounting treatment for RECs, and they have always been recorded as a 
reduction in purchased power expenses. RMLD's REC holdings as of December 31, 
2021, are not recognized as an asset, and their valuation is only noted in the 
financial statement footnotes on pages 39 and 41. 
 

• Mr. Coulter emphasized that this situation applies to anyone purchasing RECs, not 
just RMLD, as it is an industry-wide practice. 
 

• The discussion clarified that the credits on the statements represent the selling of 
RECs. Mr. Herrick inquired about RECs, and Mr. Phipps explained RMLD's process of 
retiring and selling RECs according to Policy 30 to meet 2021 Climate goal targets. 
Mr. Phipps emphasized that to avoid rate shock, RMLD retires certificates at a level 
of 23% of annual 2021 kWh sales, with the retirement level increasing by 3% 
annually through 2030. 
 

• Chair Borawski confirmed that RECs are solely an asset with no liability, and Phipps 
noted that they have a shelf life, as they must be transacted, retired or sold, within 
six months of year end. 
 

• Mr. Pacino mentioned that GASB is working on a research project for an accounting 
standard related to RECs. Mr. Pacino also asked Mr. Fentross if he had more 
information about the Environmental Social Governance reporting and International 
Sustainability Standard Board.  
 

• Mr. Fentross responded that he was unaware of both and would provide more 
information to the Boards later.  
 

• Mr. Fentross discussed the change in net position, essentially RMLD's net income, 
noting that the Department of Public Utilities (DPU) guidelines state that any MA 
Light Department cannot make more than 8% of their capital assets each year. 
Melanson calculated the net income for CY21 at a 4.26% rate of return, well below 
the 8% limit. 
 

• The requirement of 8% of net plant applies specifically to RMLD only. A question 
arose regarding the consequences of exceeding 8% of net plant. Mr. Fentross 
explained that occasional exceedances would not cause issues, but consistent 
violations could result in the DPU inquiries to RMLD. 
 

• Ms. Markiewicz mentioned that RMLD had previously exceeded the 8% limit and had 
allocated the excess funds to the rate stabilization fund. Mr. Pacino added that 
during the 1990s, excess funds were returned to the ratepayers.  
 

• Mr. Fentross confirmed that RMLD has good internal controls in place and assets are 
being appropriately safeguarded. Mr. Fentross thanked the RMLD staff and General 
Manager for their efficient work and well-maintained records. 
 

• Mr. Fentross mentioned that any areas of improvement would be recommended in a 
formal management letter, which the RMLD has not received in ten years. 
Approximately only 10% of Melanson clients do not receive a management letter, 
putting RMLD in high esteem.  
 



 

Page | 4 

• Mr. Pacino referenced the Governmental Accounting Standard Board (GASB) issuing 
Statement No. 87 Leases, which the Department will be required to implement next 
year. 
 

• Mr. Fentross clarified that GASB No. 87 pertains to situations where RMLD serves as 
both lessee and lessor. In some cases, RMLD may lease out to others or lease from 
others. As a result, new liabilities and assets may appear on the balance sheet next 
year in connection with GASB 87.  
 

• Mr. Fentross pointed out that situations where RMLD is a lessor should be 
considered, particularly in cases where RMLD rents pole space to companies like 
Verizon. This could lead to a new asset for RMLD if there is a 20-30 year agreement 
to utilize RMLD poles. 
 

• Mr. Coulter asked whether this issue was already addressed under state law.  
 

• Mr. Fentross responded that, from an accounting perspective, it was not. 
Government accounting typically lags a few years behind commercial practices, and 
the reporting requirement will not be finalized until next year. 
 

• Mr. Herrick confirmed that RMLD has no debt and noted that it is a capital-intensive 
organization with significant projects on the horizon, such as the new substation. He 
asked how often companies like RMLD operate without debt and whether this is a 
positive attribute or indicative of missed opportunities. 
 

• Mr. Fentross stated that one or two Municipal Light Plants (MLPs) audited by 
Melanson have no debt, while the majority of other MLPs have some debt on their 
books. He could not determine if this was good or bad, as it is a management 
decision, and he needs to maintain independence. Mr. Fentross suggested consulting 
with an expert who could better advise on the advantages and disadvantages of 
debt. 
 

• Ms. Markiewicz explained RMLD's strategy regarding debt, emphasizing that RMLD 
has not needed to issue bonds and that the associated interest from bonding could 
become a burden for customers.  
 

• Chair Borawski inquired about the liquidation of the pension trust fund. Fentross 
replied that it would occur in 2022. Currently, the $5.5 million from the pension trust 
fund is listed under noncurrent assets, restricted cash, and short-term investments. 
Next year, the funds will move to current assets, unrestricted cash, and short-term 
investments. 
 

• Chair Borawski asked why the pension trust fund was being treated differently. Ms. 
Markiewicz responded that it was based on legal advice. RMLD was informed that the 
trust was no longer necessary and the funds are now considered operating expenses. 
 

• The below-the-line payment to the Town of Reading was discussed. Ms. Markiewicz 
explained that, prior to 2018, the payment was calculated based on the Consumer 
Price Index (CPI) percent change for the year. In 2019, the Board directed RMLD to 
make payments from the available below-the-line unappropriated earned surplus for 
calendar years 2019 and 2020 at the rate currently in place for FY19. In 2020, the 
Board of Commissioners (BoC) voted to extend the 2020 payment for the dates of 
June 30, 2021, and December 31, 2021. In a separate vote, the BoC decided to 
change the calculation to 3.875 mils/kWh based on the previous 3-year average of 
kWh sales from audited financial statements, beginning with the payment date of 
June 30, 2022. 
 

• Mr. Pacino added that using the CPI formula was not sustainable in the long run, as 
RMLD would eventually need to draw from capital funds, harming the system. The 



 

Page | 5 

new formula provides a better balance. 
 

• Mr. Pacino made a motion, seconded by Mr. Herrick, that the Town of Reading Audit 
Committee recommend to the RMLD Board of Commissioners to accept the audit 
dated May 23rd, 2022. Motion Carried: 5:0:2 (5 in favor, 2 absent). Roll Call: 
Jeanne Borawski, Aye; Shawn Brandt, Aye; Stephen Herrick, Aye; Carla Nazzaro, 
Aye; Philip Pacino, Aye. Edward Ross and Mark Dockser were absent from the 
meeting.  
 

• Mr. Pacino made a motion, seconded by Mr. Coulter, that the RMLD Board of 
Commissioners Sub- Audit Committee recommend to the RMLD Board of 
Commissioners to accept the audit dated May 23rd, 2022.  Motion Carried: 2:0:0 
(2 in favor). Roll Call: Philip Pacino, Aye; Robert Coulter, Aye.  
 

Adjournment 
 
Mr. Pacino made a motion, seconded by Mr. Coulter, to adjourn the RMLD Board of 
Commissioners Sub- Audit Committee. Motion Carried: 2:0:0 (2 in favor). Roll Call: Philip 
Pacino, Aye; Robert Coulter, Aye. 

Mr. Pacino made a motion, seconded by Mr. Herrick, to adjourn the Town of Reading Audit 
Committee meeting. Motion Carried: 5:0:2 (5 in favor, 2 absent). Roll Call: Jeanne 
Borawski, Aye; Shawn Brandt, Aye; Stephen Herrick, Aye; Carla Nazzaro, Aye; Philip 
Pacino, Aye. Edward Ross and Mark Dockser were absent from the meeting. 

The meeting adjourned at 6:47 PM.  

Materials  

Town of Reading, Massachusetts, Reading Municipal Light Department, Annual Financial 
Statement for the Year Ended December 31, 2021. 

All meeting materials can be found on the RMLD website (www.rmld.com) in the BoC 
meeting packet.  

 

http://www.rmld.com/

	2023-06-15 RMLD BoC Audit Sub-Commitee Agenda Packet 2023-06-13 FV.pdf
	2023-06-15 RMLD BoC Audit Sub-Commitee Agenda Packet 2023-06-08.pdf
	BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING COVER TEMPLATE.pdf

	2023-06-15 RMLD BoC Audit Agenda 2023-06-13.pdf
	2023-06-15 RMLD BoC Audit Sub-Commitee Agenda Packet 2023-06-08
	BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING COVER TEMPLATE


	RMLD Annual Financial Statements 2022-12-31 Draft Dated 2023-06-08.pdf
	2023-06-15 RMLD BoC Audit Sub-Commitee Agenda Packet 2023-06-13 FV
	2023-06-15 RMLD BoC Audit Sub-Commitee Agenda Packet 2023-06-08
	BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING COVER TEMPLATE
	2017-11-09 RMLD BoC Sub-Audit Commitee Minutes for Approval 2023-06-15.pdf
	2018-11-29 RMLD BoC Audit Commitee Minutes for Approval 2023-06-15 .pdf
	2019-05-23 RMLD BOC Audit Committee Minutes For Approval 2023-06-15 .pdf
	2020-07-16 RMLD BoC Audit Committee Minutes For Board Approval 2023-06-15.pdf
	2021-05-19 RMLD BoC Audit Commitee  Meeting Minutes For Approval 2023-06-15.pdf
	2022-05-23 RMLD BoC Audit Commitee Minutes for Approval 2023-06-15 .pdf





